IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

ERICK WALKER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Judge Wynne

APPELLANT'S CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF (Original had two page 15's and missing page 16)

MARK D. MESTEL Attorney for Appellant Erick Walker

MARK D. MESTEL, INC., P.S. 2707 Colby Avenue, Suite 1003 Everett, Washington 98201 (425) 339-2383

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Between about 11:15 PM on June 1, 2013 and 7:00 AM on June 2, 2013, person or persons fired gunshots in six different areas of Snohomish County. The first shot struck and killed MC, a teenage girl who was walking with her friends on a dark country road near Lake Stevens. Shots also were fired at 3 homes and a car in the Lake Stevens neighborhood between 1:17 AM and 7:00 AM. (RP 496, 601, 569, 590) About 5 shots were fired on 56th Ave. NE, Marysville shortly before 2:00 AM. Four shots struck cars, with the fifth shot going through the second floor window of the Cavanaugh residence. (RP 730,

732, 734) Police recovered bullets from all of the shootings with the exception of the shooting of MC and the bullet that hit the Cavanaugh residence. The only other trace evidence recovered by the police came from 56th Ave. N.E. After hearing the gunshots Chris Johnson looked out from the Cavanaugh residence and saw an older, light colored 4 door sedan strike a gold Saturn parked on the street. (RP 780, 784) The police recovered a black paint chip from the Saturn and pieces of plastic from the ground by the Saturn. (RP 816-20) No trace evidence was recovered from the scene of the homicide.

The police sent the bullets and trace evidence to the crime lab. Criminalist Daniel Van Wyck examined the paint chip and pieces of plastic. He determined that the paint chip was consistent with paint from Erick Walkers black Pontiac G6 (RP 2016-17) and that the pieces of plastic came from that Pontiac's front headlamp assembly. (RP 2024-25, 2028) Criminalist Brian Smelser examined the ballistics evidence. He

concluded that 4 of the recovered cartridges were fired from one of two Ruger Blackhawk revolvers recovered from Walker's home while the other 4 recovered cartridges were fired from a second Ruger revolver also recovered from Walker's residence. (RP 2113)

The police arrested Erick Walker on June 28, 2013 as he drove from his home to the Everett Boeing plant where he worked. An officer was designated to drive Mr. Walker to the Sheriff's department located on the fourth floor of the Snohomish County Courthouse. Although investigators did contact Mr. Walker at the arrest scene, before the patrol car left to transport him, no one advised him as to why he had been arrested. The transporting officer had been advised by Det. Pince not to question Mr. Walker, nor to advise him of his Miranda rights. (RP 1867)

The transporting officer placed Mr. Walker in an interview room within the Sheriff's Department. Detectives

¹ The police recovered the revolvers and 30 carbine caliber ammunition from Walker's home when they executed a search warrant on June 28, 2013. CP 76

Pince and Conley were the designated interrogators. They introduced themselves to Mr. Walker, but still did not tell him why he was in custody. (35RP 38) Det. Pince did read Mr. Walker his Miranda rights. At the conclusion of the reading Mr. Walker stated: "Well, is there an attorney present?" (35RP 36)² Detective Pince responded that there wasn't and that it would take time to have one present. Ibid. Walker, who was supposed to be at work, asked why he was in custody. The police refused to answer unless he waived his rights. (35RP 390) He did and the police questioned him over the following two hours with a majority of the interrogation being tape-recorded.

Mr. Walker told the investigators that he had not been involved in any of the shootings under investigation.³ And the evidence introduced during the defense case corroborated that he could not have fired the shots at any of the Lake Stevens residences or vehicles. Mr. Walker arrived at his friend's house

² 35RP refers to the transcript from the CrR 3.5 hearing conducted on November 14, 2013.

³ The Court admitted a slightly redacted version of Walker's taped statement as Exhibit 167.

at about 11:30 PM. His friend, T.J. Patterson recalled his arrival. (RP 1197) T.J.'s wife, Meitra snapped a photo on her phone of Mr. Walker when he entered the residence a few minutes later. The telephone showed the picture had been taken at about 11:35 PM. (RP 1222) While T.J. and Meitra were uncertain as to the time that Mr. Walker left, another person there, Taylor Wallace, recalled that he and Walker left at the same time: 1:35 AM. (RP 2368)

In addition to the search warrant for Walker's home and car, the police also obtained warrants and searched his cell phone, the records from his cell phone carrier and the records from his bank. (CP 76) During trial the State introduced items recovered from each place searched.

III. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The State filed its first Amended Information on October 31, 2014. This document charged Mr. Walker with First Degree Murder, five counts of Drive by Shooting, and four counts of

Assault in the First Degree while armed with a firearm. (CP 86)

The Court conducted a CrR 3.5 hearing on November 14, 2013. Judge Fair determined that the statements attributed to Mr. Walker during the June 28, 2013 interrogation were admissible (CP 59). The Court pre-assigned the case to Judge Thomas Wynne. He presided over all subsequent hearings, including the defense Motion to Suppress and Motions in Limine. He also presided over the trial, which began on March 4, 2015. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on Counts 2 - 10. It could not unanimously agree on Count 1, First Degree Murder, but returned a verdict of Guilty to the lesser-included crime of Manslaughter in the First Degree. (CP 137) On April 21, 2015 Judge Wynne sentenced Mr. Walker to 1,089 months in prison. (CP 169) The defense filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (CP 176)

III. ARGUMENT

1. The Court erred when it refused to allow the defense to cross-examine the State's criminalists regarding errors previously committed in the crime lab.

The State's case rested on the credibility of Brian Smelser. ¹ Although the State introduced testimony that plastic pieces found near the gold Saturn parked on 56th Ave NE hit by a car travelling on 56th at the time witnesses heard up to 5 gunshots, there was no evidence that those shots originated from a car, much less Mr. Walker's car. The only evidence that actually linked Mr. Walker to the shootings came from Mr. Smelser.

A criminalist employed by the Washington State Patrol, it was Mr. Smelser's responsibility to perform the firearm ballistics examinations. At trial he testified that after firing bullets from the two Ruger revolvers he compared those cartridges to those found at the crime scenes and submitted to the crime lab by the investigators. Based on those comparisons it was his opinion that half of the bullets had been fired from

one Ruger with the other half of the recovered bullets having been fired from the second Ruger. Contrary to the protocol of the State Crime Lab as testified to by criminalist Van Wyck, (RP 2024) and Supervisor David Northrop (RP 1402) the State did not offer any testimony that there was peer review of the Mr. Smelser's work.

Walker contends that the trial court improperly limited the scope of its cross-examination of Mr. Smelser and Dr. Northrop to the prejudice of Mr. Walker. The State began its examination of Mr. Smelser by establishing the duties he had from the time he first was employed as a criminalist with the Washington State Crime Lab. It elicited that he worked in the bio/DNA section from 1996 through 2008 (RP 2055), advising the jury that Mr. Smelser did DNA work for the better part of a decade.

During cross-examination Mr. Smelser testified that he based his opinion concerning the comparison of the cartridges on his training and experience. Counsel next sought to question

him about prior problems with work that he had done while in the DNA section of the crime lab. (RP 2155-56) The State objected and the Court refused to allow this cross-examination.⁴ The luster of DNA work enhanced Mr. Smelser's credibility as a criminalist.⁵ The defense should have been allowed to diminish that luster by showing that Mr. Smelser incorrectly handled DNA samples by contaminating them, causing faulty results.

Dr. Northrop was a supervisor in the WSP crime lab. He testified to the procedures used by the lab to ensure a correct result. (RP 1402) When defense counsel inquired on cross how it was that these procedures did not reveal mistakes made in the crime lab the Court sustained the State's objection and refused to allow cross on this area. (RP 1413-18) Again the Court improperly limited cross-examination into the theory of the

⁴ The defense filed an offer of proof as Exhibit 426.

⁵ In 2005 Gallup published the results of a poll concerning public perceptions of DNA evidence. It found that more than 8 in 10 Americans (85%) think DNA evidence is either completely (27%) or very (58%) reliable. A majority considered it reliable when Gallup first asked the question in 2000; the percentage backing the reliability of DNA has increased since then.

defense that once the police selected Walker as its primary suspect, the investigation became myopic. This limitation violated Mr. Walker's right to present his defense and prevented him from receiving a fair trial.

The United State Supreme Court in Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 319-20, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 2537 (2009) dealt with the right of the accused to confront a forensic scientist whose results were admitted at trial. The Court held that the Confrontation Clause required the prosecution to call the scientist as a witness. It based its holding on the Sixth Amendment and the fact that forensic scientists frequently do substandard work resulting in erroneous convictions. It went on to state: "Like expert witnesses generally, an analyst's lack of proper training or deficiency in judgment may be disclosed in cross-examination." In accord, In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson, 174 Wash. 2d 474, 489, 276 P.3d 286 (2012).

Melendez-Diaz involved a case in which the prosecution did not produce the scientist who performed the test. However,

the importance of meaningful cross-examination, especially where the forensic evidence is the glue that holds together the State's case, cannot be over stated. If the jury found Mr. Smelser's credibility lacking and/or the procedures employed by the Crime Lab ineffective, the likelihood of a conviction is reduced significantly. This error is not harmless.

2. The Court erred when it allowed the State to introduce testimony and exhibits of a re-enactment of the shooting of MC.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews the trial court's decision to allow demonstrative evidence under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Hunter, 152 Wn. App. 30, 41, 216 P.3d 421 (2009).

Supplemental Facts Pertinent to this Assignment of Error⁶

On August 14, 2013, the police, pursuant to a court order, drove Mr. Walker's Pontiac G6 to the location at which MC was shot. Detective Lewis drove Mr. Walker's vehicle while

⁶ Most of the case law relied upon by Appellant discusses the introduction of a video rather than photograph re-enactment. Appellant contends that the principles discussed in the decisions apply equally to the photographs introduced in this case. A video simply is a collection of still images joined together, usually displayed at 30 photographs (frames) per second, to create a seamless image.

various actors portraying MC and her friends were placed on the side of the road. The State photographed the re-enactment in which Detective Lewis, seated in the driver's seat of the Pontiac G6, pointed a handgun out the passenger side window of the vehicle and in the direction of a person portraying MC. The exhibits also showed various mechanic devices to illustrate how a shot fired from the gun held by Det. Lewis would have left a wound consistent with that suffered by MC. (RP 1743-48)

Argument

The State realized that it had no evidence to offer the jury that would link Mr. Walker to this shooting. Rather than offer facts it elected to stage a re-enactment hoping that strong graphic images would make an indelible impression on the jurors sufficient to get them to accept the State's theory of the case. Judge Wynne abused his discretion when he allowed Det. Wells to testify to his re-enactment of the shooting of M.C. and

to admit photographs taken on August 15, 2013 as exhibits 254, 255, 257-62.⁷

Over defense objection (RP 1717) Det. Wells was allowed to give his opinion of the feasibility of the State's theory: that the shot that struck and killed MC was fired by Walker, with his Ruger revolver and from his car. The opinion was not based any undisputed facts and did not require expert testimony. The State stated its purpose for the Detective Wells testimony and accompanying photos telling the Court during argument made outside the presence of the jury:

MR. STEMLER: Your Honor, we have had testimony that we have heard for foundation for this, in addition to what Detective Wells has to say. I think this is important for the jury to see it is possible to have this shot fired from this car given the information that we have.

The Court should not have allowed this testimony.

Det. Wells created this re-enactment knowing that he could not establish MC's orientation at the time the bullet

⁷ Although the exhibits were admitted for illustrative, rather than substantive purposes, (RP 1741) appellant maintains that their admission was error and extremely prejudicial to the defense.

struck her; that his measurements were approximations; that he did not know vehicle positioning or angles (RP 1755). What he did, consistent with Mr. Stemler's explanation, was choose a scenario consistent with the State's theory of the case and then photographed it.

There was no evidence to establish the following facts included in the re-enactment:

- a. MC's anatomical position at the time the bullet struck her. The witnesses who accompanied MC as she was walking alongside the road did not know her correct anatomical position when the bullet struck her. The exact position of MC's head would be essential to establish the position of the shooter. The Medical Examiner agreed. (RP 1866-71)
- b. Where the bullet originated. While two of the girls believed the shot was fired from a car, a third believed the shot was fired from the bushes across the street. Even if there is support that the shot was fired from a car, there is nothing offered by the witnesses to establish that the shot came from the appellant's car or a car similar to the appellant's car. The measurements of the car's window could possibly affect trajectory, as would its position on the road relative to MC.
- c. The caliber of the bullet. The bullet that struck and killed MC never was recovered. The medical examiner could not state from the wound path the

- caliber of the bullet that struck her. This made it impossible to know the make of the firearm that fired the bullet. (RP 1871)
- d. The type of firearm that fired the shot. Whether a handgun or a rifle fired the shot that killed MC was unknown.
- e. **The lighting**. The shooting occurred on a dark rural road, but the photos offered by the State were taken during the daylight.
- f. Who fired the gun? The driver is holding the gun, though one witness told the police that she believed there were two occupants in the car making it just as likely that the shot was fired by a passenger. (RP 1086-87, 1912)
- g. The presence of measuring devices. The photograph shows a laser with corresponding red dot on the actress portraying MC. No laser was present on June 1st.

Since this unexpected shooting occurred on a dark road with differing accounts from the witnesses, it is impossible to find that the State's re-enactment evidence is substantially similar to what occurred on June 1, 2013. It was prejudicial error for the Court to admit it.

Under ER 702, the court may permit "a witness qualified as an expert" to provide an opinion regarding "scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge" if such testimony

"will assist the trier of fact." The two key criteria for admission of expert testimony are a qualified witness and helpful testimony. State v. Cauthron, 120 Wn.2d 879, 890, 846 P.2d 502 (1993), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Buckner, 133 Wn.2d 63, 941 P.2d 667 (1997).

Prior to this testimony the State had introduced photos of the Pontiac G6 and measurements of the height of the windows from the ground. Also admitted were the firearms recovered from Walker's residence. The jury knew the position of the wounds sustained by MC and their measurements from the ground, assuming that she was standing erect when struck by the bullet. Opinion testimony by Det. Wells was not needed to assist the jury that it was feasible for the shot to have come from a car. Det. Wells told the jury that based on that scenario he staged the bullet would have entered MC's neck consistent with the wound examined by the medical examiner. However, the Medical Examiner concluded that it was not possible to determine the position of the gun relevant to MC because of a lack of information regarding MC's anatomical position when shot. The Court should not have allowed Wells to give his opinion.

The Court admitted the photographs, as explained by Det. Wells, as demonstrative evidence to illustrate and support the State's theory. The Supreme Court has established a test for admission of exhibits as illustrative evidence; they must be relevant to the ultimate fact sought to be proved and substantially similar in operation and function to the object or contrivance in issue. State v. Gray, 64 Wn.2d 979, 983, 395 P.2d 490 (1964). See also State v. Pristell, 3 Wn.App. 962, 478 P.2d 743 (1970).

This standard is similar to holdings by Courts that have considered the admissibility of re-enactment exhibits. Those cases focus on whether the proposed exhibit was created under circumstances similar to that of the crime.

In <u>State v. Stockmyer</u>, 83 Wn.App. 77, 920 P. 2d 1201 (1996) the trial court refused to admit a videotaped reenactment

because the tape was not subject to cross-examination and contained factual inaccuracies. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge finding that factual inaccuracies and the potential prejudicial effect of the videotape justified its exclusion.

<u>Dunkle v. State</u>, 2006 OK CR 29, 139 P. 3d 228 (2006), involved a fact pattern similar to those found in this case. The State introduced four computer-generated re-enactments. The first three displayed scenarios consistent with the defendant's version of events. The fourth portrayed the State's expert's theory of how the shooting occurred; his theory was inconsistent with the defendant's version of events.

In <u>Dunkle</u> the victim had only one bullet wound, the bullet did not pass through any other solid surface, and the bullet was never found. There was no objective physical evidence from which to determine the position of the victim's body at the time of the shooting in relation to some other known point or surface. Here no bullet was recovered and while witnesses can state that MC was part of a group of girls walking

alongside the road, no one can describe with specificity her anatomical position at the time they heard the shot, other than she was standing.

The court in **Dunkle** held that the four computer generated animations were inappropriate and potentially highly misleading to the jury. The court found that the trial court record did not establish that the animations were "fair and accurate representations of the evidence to which they related." While recognizing the potential value of computer generated animations the court also recognized "a computer animation can mislead a jury just as easily as it can educate them. An animation is only as good as the underlying testimony, physical data, and engineering assumptions that drive its image. The computer maxim "garbage in, garbage out" applies to computer animations." The same caution is applicable to the reenactment, which the Court admitted in this case.

In <u>Eiland v. State</u>, 130 Ga.App. 428, 203 S.E.2d 619, 621 (1973) the appellate court reversed based on the admission of a

videotaped re-enactment on the basis that it contained only facts consistent with the State's theory.

In Lopez v. State, 651 S.W.2d 413, 414-15 (Tex. App. 2 Dist. 1983) the Court held that the videotape re-enactment of the crime was inadmissible and reversible error. It noted that the events portrayed in the video were not similar to those that occurred on the day of the crime. It went on to note the potential for unfair prejudice when jurors are presented with images of actors.

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