# FILED Mar 30, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73440-7-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ERICK N. WALKER,

Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JANICE C. ALBERT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

####

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

# C. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY PERMITTED TO CONSIDER THE CRIME OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER WHICH WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

At the close of the State's case, the defendant moved to have the murder count dismissed. 13 RP 2168. The court denied the motion, as it had denied a Knapstad motion prior to trial. 13 RP 2175-76. It found that State had presented all of the evidence it said it would admit at the Knapstad hearing and additional circumstantial evidence of other shootings, ballistics evidence, the defendant's statement, and video of the defendant's car near the scene. Id. Defense now argues that there was insufficient evidence presented for the court to allow the jury to consider first degree murder.

# 1. The Defendant Waived A Challenge To The Denial Of His Motion To Dismiss By Putting On A Case.

Insofar as the defendant is challenging the court's denial of his motion to dismiss, that issue is waived. A defendant waives a

challenge to sufficiency if he thereafter introduces evidence. An exception exists when the evidence he introduces has no bearing on the merits of the case. <u>State v. Young</u>, 50 Wn. App. 107, 111, 747 P.2d 486 (1987).

Here, after his motion to dismiss, the defendant called witnesses to testify on the merits of the case, including alibi witnesses. When he did so, he waived this issue on appeal.

# 2. The Jury Was Properly Instructed Because There Was Sufficient Evidence To Support The First Degree Murder Instruction.

A court must instruct the jury on a party's theory of the case if there is sufficient evidence to support the theory. <u>State v. Williams</u>, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259, 937 P.2d 1062 (1997). Evidence is sufficient if, viewed in the light most favorable to the State and with all reasonable inferences in the State's favor, a reasonable trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DeVries</u>, 149 Wn.2d 842, 859, 72 P.3d 748 (2003); <u>State v. Goodman</u>, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004).

The jury was instructed on first degree murder. CP 58. The defendant argues that the instruction should not have been given because there was no evidence he was present or fired the fatal shot at M.C. His argument only succeeds if the majority of the

evidence is ignored. Looked at in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence was more than sufficient to support the charges because it established that the defendant was in the area and shot M.C.

The eyewitnesses walking closest to M.C. established that the single gunshot that killed M.C. came from the passenger window of a passing dark car. The medical examiner, Smelser, and Det. Wells's demonstration supported that testimony. A surveillance tape showed a car with no discernible differences from the defendant's drive past the girls, make a U-turn, and return toward them. The defendant admitted not only he was in his black Pontiac in the area when M.C. was shot but also that he may have seen her and her friends walking on the road.

Evidence from the other shootings supports the logical conclusion that the defendant was in the area and shot M.C. There were five other drive-by shootings that night that targeted apparently innocent and unrelated victims. Each shot came from the road. Each shot was a single shot at a single target. Each bullet came from one of the defendant's firearms. No casings were found at any scene, indicating either that the weapon used did not

eject a casing or that the casings were still in the car. And the defendant's car was placed definitively at the Marysville shooting.

The facts of the other shootings are eerily similar to the facts of M.C.'s death: an innocent victim, a single gunshot from the road, no casing, a black car fleeing the scene. There was more than sufficient evidence from which a reasonable juror could have found that the defendant was present at the scene and thus guilty of first degree murder.

# 3. Any Error That Occurred Was Harmless Because The Jury Did Not Convict On First Degree Murder.

A reviewing court will presume that instructional error is prejudicial unless the State can affirmatively show that the error was harmless. State v. Stein, 94 Wn. App. 616, 24-26, 972 P.2d 505, 829 P.2d 241 (1992), aff'd on other grounds, 144 Wn.2d 236, 27 P.3d 184 (2001). In the present case, the jury did not convict the defendant of first degree murder. Therefore, any error in so instructing the jury was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

### 4. The Evidence Was Sufficient To Sustain The Manslaughter Conviction.

The defendant also appears to be arguing that the evidence was insufficient to sustain the manslaughter conviction. As discussed, <u>supra</u>, the record shows otherwise because the

reasonable inference drawn from the direct and circumstantial evidence puts the defendant at the scene of Molly's killing.

Federal courts have defined "reasonable inference" as "one that is supported by a chain of logic rather than ... mere speculation dressed up in the guise of evidence." <u>Juan H. v. Allen</u>, 408 F.3d 1262, 1277 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005); <u>United States v. Navarette-Aquilar</u>, 14-30056, 2015 WL 9453075, at 6-7 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. Dec. 28, 2015). The evidence need not rule out every hypothesis. <u>United States v. Nevils</u>, 598 F.3d 1158, 1163-65 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010). The court must reverse only if all rational triers of fact would have to conclude that there was not sufficient evidence of guilt. <u>Id.</u>

In the present case, the conclusion that the defendant was present and shot M.C. is not speculation but is supported by a chain of logic. While there may be another explanation for this peculiar constellation of evidence, a reasonable trier of fact could and would have made the inferences this reasonable jury made.

# D. THE DEFENDANT'S CUSTODIAL STATEMENTS, MADE AFTER A WAIVER OF RIGHTS AND ABSENT A REQUEST FOR A LAWYER, WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED.

A person who undergoes custodial questioning has the right not to incriminate himself. State v. Radcliffe, 164 Wn.2d 900, 905, 194 P.3d 250 (2008). The State bears the burden of showing a

defendant has waived the right to a lawyer by a preponderance that any waiver was knowing and voluntary. <u>Id.</u> at 905-06. Because the defendant did not assign error to findings of fact, they are verities on appeal. <u>State v. Broadaway</u>, 133 Wn.2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). The trial court's decision on matters of law is reviewed *de novo*. <u>State v. Miller</u>, 156 Wn.2d 23, 27, 123 P.3d 827 (2005).

The trial court found that after Detective Pince read the *Miranda* warnings the defendant asked if there was an attorney present. CP 401-03, Finding of Fact (FOF) 7. The detective said there was not, that he could get one, and that it would "take a little while" for one to arrive. <u>Id.</u>, FOF 8. When the defendant asked "what this was about," Det. Pince would not speak to him until he had determined if the defendant was, in fact, waiving his rights. <u>Id.</u> The defendant then said he understood his *Miranda* rights, waived them, and spoke to detectives. <u>Id.</u>, FOF 9.

The trial court concluded that the defendant did not make an unequivocal request for counsel, that the police did not improperly interfere with his decision regarding waiver of his rights, and that they properly refused to speak to him until he made that decision. regarding his rights. <u>Id.</u>, Conclusions of Law 2 and 3.

## 1. The Defendant Made No Unequivocal Request For A Lawyer.

If a suspect makes an unequivocal request for an attorney, all questioning must cease. <u>Davis v. United States</u>, 512 U.S. 462, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994); <u>Radcliffe</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 906. The invocation of the right to counsel is no different from the invocation of any other *Miranda* right. The request must be sufficiently clear so that a reasonable officer would understand it to be just that, an invocation of a *Miranda* right. <u>State v. Piatnitsky</u>, 180 Wn.2d 407, 413, 325 P.3d 167 (2014).

Police are not required to cease questioning or ask clarifying questions when a suspect makes an equivocal request. Piatnitsky at 415. "Maybe I should contact an attorney," is an equivocal request. Radcliffe, 164 Wn.2d at 907. "I guess I'll just have to talk to a lawyer about it," is equivocal. State v. Gasteazoro-Paniagua, 173 Wn. App. 751, 756, 294 P.3d 857, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1019 (2013). On the other hand, "I gotta talk to my lawyer" is unequivocal. State v. Nysta, 168 Wn. App. 30, 41-42, 276 P.3d 1162 (2012).

In the present case, the defendant made no unequivocal request for a lawyer. His question, whether one was present,

would not have signaled to a reasonable officer that the defendant was invoking his right to counsel.

# 2. Police Properly Refused To Begin The Interrogation Until The Defendant Made A Decision About Waiving His *Miranda* Rights.

A trial court's decision on a *Miranda* waiver will not be disturbed if the totality of circumstances shows that the confession was not coerced. <u>Broadaway</u>, 133 Wn.2d at 132; <u>State v. Burkins</u>, 94 Wn. App. 677, 694, 973 P.2d 15, <u>review denied</u>, 138 Wn.2d 1014 (1997). The totality of the circumstances includes the defendant's condition and mental abilities and any promises made by police. <u>Broadway</u>, at <u>Id.</u> There must be a promise that has a causal relationship to the confession. <u>Id.</u>

When a detective tells a suspect that he will try to get his wife in to see him, the detective has not made a promise. Such an offer is not a promise because it does not compel a suspect to confess by overcoming his will. <u>Id.</u> at 133-34.

In the present case, the court made a factual finding that Det. Pince made no promises. CP 403, Finding of Fact 3. Any attempt to interpret it otherwise should fail. The question is not whether a defendant understands the precise nature of the danger

of speaking, but rather whether he knows he can remain silent.

State v. McDonald, 89 Wn.2d 256, 265, 571 P.2d 930 (1977).

The trial court rightly concluded that Det. Pince made no promise but merely clarified the defendant's position on his rights. There is no evidence that anything Det. Pince did overbore the defendant's free will. Therefore, the defendant's statement was properly admitted.

### E. WITH THE EXCEPTION OF BECU, THE WARRANTS WERE SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE CAUSE AND NOT OVERBROAD.

A judge may issue a search warrant upon a determination of probable cause. State v. Jackson, 150 Wn.2d 261, 264, 76 P.3d 265 (2003). Probable cause means the facts and circumstances in the affidavit establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is involved in criminal activity and that evidence of that activity will be found at the place to be searched. Id. at 265; State v. Atchley, 142 Wn. App. 147, 161, 173 P.3d 232 (2007). Probable cause means the probability of criminal activity, not a prima facie showing. State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 505, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004).

Courts must interpret affidavits in a common sense manner, not hypertechnically. <u>Jackson</u>, 160 Wn.2d at 265. Courts should draw reasonable inferences from the facts and circumstances

described. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Maddox</u>, 152 Wn.2d at 505. Facts that standing alone would not alone be sufficient may support probable cause when viewed together with other facts. <u>State v. Garcia</u>, 63 Wn. App. 868, 875, 824 P.2d 1220 (1992).

The issuing judge's determination on probable cause is given great deference with doubts generally resolved in favor of validity. State v. Chenoweth, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007). All doubts are resolved in favor of validity. State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 509, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004). The trial court's assessment on a motion to suppress is a legal conclusion, reviewed *de novo*. State v. Neth, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008).

# 1. The Warrant For The Defendant's Home Was Supported By Probable Cause That The Defendant Was Involved In The Hit And Run And In All Of The Shootings.

The June 28 warrant permitted detectives to search the defendant's home for evidence of the crimes of murder, drive-by shooting, assault, and hit and run. CP 309-11. The evidence sought related to all of the shootings, including the one that ended in M.C.'s death. <u>Id.</u> Defense has conceded to probable cause for the hit and run. BOA at 35.

Det. Wells's affidavit described facts and circumstances sufficient to conclude that the defendant was likely the driver and the shooter in each of the described crimes. CP 312-345. The affidavit included descriptions of M.C.'s shooting, statements from the girls who saw and heard a shot come from the passenger window of a dark car; a video that appeared to show M.C.'s group heading from the lake, a dark car coming from the same direction, making a U-turn, and heading back toward M.C.'s group.

The affidavit also described the five other shooting that occurred that night in and around Lake Stevens. One shot was fired at each target, the shots apparently came from the road, and no casings were found. Bullets collected at four of the scenes were .30 carbine caliber full-metal jacketed bullets fired from two different .30 carbine caliber firearms. Only a limited number of firearms use that ammunition. Two of those are the M-1 carbine rifle and the Ruger Blackhawk handgun. The defendant's facebook page showed him with a M-1 carbine rifle and a Ruger Blackhawk which he had purchased at Cabela's. Id.

The affidavit also described additional information collected at the Marysville crime scene and through subsequent investigation: witness statements about the shots coming from a

fleeing car; a collision between the fleeing car and the gold Saturn that left black paint transfer and pieces of what appeared to be a broken headlight; information that the black paint could have come from a Pontiac. Police found paint transfer and body damage on the defendant's 1996 Pontiac that was consistent with the damage to the gold Saturn.

The crime scenes were within minutes of driving-time of each other. The defendant's house was less than half a mile away from the Marysville scene.

Those facts and circumstances, read together, lead to only one commonsense conclusion: that the person who owned and was driving the black Pontiac and who owned at least one Ruger Blackhawk was responsible for all of these random but similar shootings.

If the affidavit established probable cause to believe that the defendant committed the Marysville hit and run, as defense concedes, it stands to reason that he committed the committed the Marysville drive-by shooting and assault which occurred simultaneously and that he committed the other random and eerily similar shootings that occurred close in time and location.

The affidavit also established that evidence of those crimes would likely be found in the defendant's house and car. See State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 528 (1999). In Thein, detectives sought to search the defendant's house for evidence of drug dealing. The only information tying the house to drug dealing was were generalizations about the habits of drug dealers. The search warrant failed because there were no facts that specifically tied the defendant's illegal drug dealing to his house. Id. at 148.

The June 28 warrant was supported by specific facts that tied the defendant's house to his crimes. The defendant owned the house and weapons. It was reasonable to infer that he would keep evidence, such as firearms, ammunition, auto parts and purchase information, documents and receipts that showed his location during the time of the crime, in his home or car.

The facts and information contained in the June 28 affidavit led to only one reasonable inference: that the defendant was probably the shooter at each crime scene and that evidence of his crimes would be found in his home and his car.

# 2. The Warrants For Verizon Records And The Defendant's Cell Phone Were Not Overbroad When They Were Limited In Scope And Duration.

A warrant is overbroad when it does not describe with particularity items for which probable cause exists, or when it describes with particularity items for which probable cause does not exist. State v. Maddox, 116 Wn. App. 796, 805, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003), affirmed, 152 Wn.3d (2004). The warrant must be read in a commonsense manner "keeping in mind the circumstances of the case." Id. quoting, Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 693.

Admitting evidence obtained through an overbroad warrant is an error of constitutional magnitude. State v. Keodara, 191 Wn. App. 305, 317, 364 P.3d 777 (2015). It may be harmless error if any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the error. The State bears the burden of proving the error was harmless and must show beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. Id. at 317-18.

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